IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 96,910

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

VS.

CHARLES BRADFORD,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH

Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA TERENZIO

Assistant Attorney General Bureau Chief Florida Bar No. 656879

ROBERT R. WHEELER

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0796409 1655 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd. Suite 300 West Palm Beach, FL 33401-2299 Telephone: (561) 688-7759

Counsel for Petitioner

STATE OF FLORIDA v. CHARLES BRADFORD

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, was the prosecution in the trial court, Appellee before the Fourth District Court of Appeal, and will be referred to herein as "Petitioner" or the "State". Respondent was the defendant in the trial court, Appellant on appeal to the Fourth District Court of Appeal, and will be referred to herein as "Respondent" or "Defendant". Reference to the record on appeal will be by the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number. References to appellate documents will be by their title followed by the appropriate page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On January 27, 1997, the State charged Respondent, by information, with two counts of unlawful insurance solicitation in violation of Florida Statute §817.234(8) (R 4-5). On March 25, 1998, Respondent filed a Sworn Motion to Dismiss setting forth sworn facts and alleging that the undisputed facts fail to set forth a prima facie case of guilt against Respondent for a violation of Florida Statute §817.234(8) (R 94-99). On March 27, 1998, Respondent filed a Motion to Dismiss asserting the unconstitutionality of Florida Statute §817.234(8) on five grounds (R 100-27).

On March 30, 1998, the State responded to Respondent's March 27, 1998 Motion to Dismiss on constitutional grounds (R 128-42). In this response, the State stipulated to the following facts:

- 1. A motor vehicle accident report, as public information, was purchased from a public agency, by a representative of Prebeck Consultants, Inc., a Florida Corporation [hereinafter "Prebeck"], that was in the business of, inter alia, scheduling appointments between persons involved in motor vehicle accidents and chiropractors.
- 2. The name and telephone number of a person involved in a traffic accident was obtained from an accident report, by a Prebeck representative.
- 3. That person was telephonically solicited, by Prebeck representatives, to schedule an appointment with CHARLES BRADFORD, D.C. to be examined and treated, if necessary, for injuries arising from the traffic accident.

- 4. The person telephonically solicited subsequently kept the scheduled appointment with CHARLES BRADFORD, D.C., was examined and was later treated.
- 5. CHARLES BRADFORD, D.C. later made a claim for personal injury protection (PIP) benefits, regarding chiropractic services performed on that patient, to an insurance company, that was subsequently paid.

(R 131). The trial court relied on these stipulated facts in its June 25, 1998 order denying Respondent's motion to dismiss (R 283-93). The court found Florida Statute §817.234(8) constitutional (R 293).

Respondent pled no contest to a lesser included offense, Conspiracy to Commit Unlawful Insurance Solicitation in violation of Florida Statute §817.234(8), but reserved his right to appeal "the trial court's ruling regarding his motion to dismiss based on the claim that s.817.234(8), Fla. Stat., is unconstitutional and the trial court's ruling regarding the Defendant's sworn motion to dismiss" (R 299-300).

Respondent timely appealed the trial court's order denying his motion to dismiss based on the claim that §817.234(8), Fla. Stat., is unconstitutional. On appeal, Respondent challenged the statute as unconstitutional on four grounds: overbroadness, void for vagueness, not sufficiently narrow to justify legitimate restriction of free speech, and violative of the equal protection clauses of the Florida and United States Constitution.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal issued its opinion in this

case on June 30, 1999: <u>Bradford v. State</u>, 740 So. 2d 569 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999). The court acknowledged that this same issue of the constitutionality of §817.234(8) had previously been addressed in <u>Barr v. State</u>, 731 So. 2d 126 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) and is constitutional. <u>Id</u>. at 570. However, the court wrote only to clarify why the statute does not punish purely innocent activity. <u>Id</u>. In it's analysis, this Court stated that "it becomes obvious that the legislature in enacting subsection (8) intended to punish only solicitations made for the sole purpose of defrauding that patient's PIP insurer." Id. at 571 The court continued:

In sum, we reiterate that "[t]he statute is not a blanket ban on all solicitation of business by a chiropractor, but rather, targets only those persons who solicit business for the sole purpose of making motor vehicle tort or PIP benefits claims. Although not the least restrictive means available to achieve the state's purpose, we hold the ban on such solicitation is reasonably tailored to the state's interest in preventing insurance fraud and raised premiums." Barr, slip op. at 2. other words, a chiropractor may solicit any prospective patient even if that chiropractor happens to get paid for his services by the patient's PIP insurance, as long as he does not solicit with the intent to defraud the insurer.

Id.

Additionally, the appellate court analyzed the legislative history of §817.234(8) Fla. Stat. (1997) and stated:

It is a general principle of statutory construction that statutes enacted during the same session of the legislature dealing with

the same subject matter must be considered in pari materia in order to harmonize them and, at the same time, to give effect to the legislative intent. When reading subsection (8) in pari materia with subsection (1)(a), it becomes obvious that the legislature in enacting subsection (8) intended to punish only solicitations made for the sole purpose of defrauding that patient's PIP insurer.

Id.

Both the State and Respondent filed Motions for Rehearing and Motions for Rehearing En Banc which were denied by the court.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The appellate court erred by inserting fraud as an element of Florida's anti-solicitation §817.234(8) Fla. Stat. (1997). Fraud is not an element of this section based on the plain language of the statute, the statutory construction, and the legislative history.

Absent the fraud element, the statute is a constitutional restriction of commercial speech and does not violate First Amendment protections. It is narrowly drawn and not overbroad.

ARGUMENT

POINT 1

INTENT TO DEFRAUD IS NOT AN ELEMENT OF FLORIDA'S ANTI-SOLICITATION STATUTE, §817.234(8) FLA. STAT. (1997).

In the underlying opinion to this case, the Fourth District Court of Appeal inserted an additional element of fraud into the anti-solicitation crime created by the legislature in §817.234(8). In an attempt to clarify why subsection (8) does not punish purely innocent activity, the appellate court stated that the legislature "intended to punish only solicitations made for the sole purpose of defrauding that patient's PIP insurer." Bradford v. State, 740 So. 2d 569 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999)(emphasis added). Additionally, the court stated that a chiropractor can solicit patients and get paid by the patient's PIP insurance "as long as he does not solicit with the intent to defraud the insurer." Id. (emphasis added). The Fourth District Court of Appeal erred by adding an element of fraud that was never required by the statute itself or intended by the legislature.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal improperly construed §817.234(8) Fla. Stat. (1997) by inserting an element of fraud that is not required by the plain meaning of the statute. Even if the statute is ambiguous, any reasonable construction of the statute does not require a fraud element. Additionally, a review of the legislative history clearly indicates that the legislature did not

intend for the crimes created in this section to contain any element of fraud.

- § 817.234 Fla. Stat. (1997) provides:
- 817.234. False and fraudulent insurance claims
- (1)(a) Any person who, with the intent to injure, defraud, or deceive any insurer:
- 1. Presents or causes to be presented any written or oral statement as part of, or in support of, a claim for payment or other benefit pursuant to an insurance policy, knowing that such statement contains any false, incomplete, or misleading information concerning any fact or thing material to such claim;
- 2. Prepares or makes any written or oral statement that is intended to be presented to any insurer in connection with, or in support of, any claim for payment or other benefit pursuant to an insurance policy, knowing that such statement contains any false, incomplete, or misleading information concerning any fact or thing material to such claim; or
- 3. Knowingly presents, causes to be presented, or prepares or makes with knowledge or belief that it will be presented to any insurer, purported insurer, servicing corporation, insurance broker, or insurance agent, or any employee or agent thereof, any false, incomplete, or misleading information or written or oral statement as part of, or in support of, an application for the issuance of, or the rating of, any insurance policy, or who conceals information concerning any fact material to such application commits a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084.
- (b) All claims and application forms shall contain a statement that is approved by the Department of Insurance that clearly states in substance the following: "Any person who knowingly and with intent to injure, defraud, or deceive any insurer files a statement of claim or an application containing any false, incomplete, or misleading information is guilty of a felony of the third degree." The changes in this paragraph relating to applications shall take effect on March 1, 1996.

- (2) Any physician licensed under chapter 458, osteopathic physician licensed under chapter 459, chiropractic physician licensed under chapter 460, or other practitioner licensed under the laws of this state who knowingly and willfully assists, conspires with, or urges any insured party to fraudulently violate any of the provisions of this section or part XI of chapter 627, or any person who, due to such assistance, conspiracy, or uraina by said physician, osteopathic physician, chiropractic physician, or practitioner, knowingly and willfully benefits from the proceeds derived from the use of such fraud, is guilty of a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. In the event that a physician, osteopathic 775.084. physician, chiropractic physician, or practitioner is adjudicated guilty of a violation of this section, the Board of Medicine as set forth in chapter 458, the Board of Osteopathic Medicine as set forth in chapter 459, the Board of Chiropractic Medicine as set forth in chapter 460, or other appropriate licensing authority shall hold an administrative hearing to consider the imposition of administrative sanctions as provided by law against said physician, osteopathic physician, chiropractic physician, or practitioner.
- (3) Any attorney who knowingly and willfully assists, conspires with, or urges any claimant to fraudulently violate any of the provisions of this section or part XI of chapter 627, or any person who, due to such assistance, conspiracy, or urging on such attorney's part, knowingly and willfully benefits from the proceeds derived from the use of such fraud, commits a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084.
- (4) No person or governmental unit licensed under chapter 395 to maintain or operate a hospital, and no administrator or employee of any such hospital, shall knowingly and willfully allow the use of the facilities of said hospital by an insured party in a scheme or conspiracy to fraudulently violate any of the provisions of this section or part XI of chapter 627. Any hospital administrator or employee who violates this subsection commits a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084. Any adjudication of guilt for a violation of this subsection, or the use of business practices demonstrating a pattern indicating that the spirit of the law set forth in this

section or part XI of chapter 627 is not being followed, shall be grounds for suspension or revocation of the license to operate the hospital or the imposition of an administrative penalty of up to \$5,000 by the licensing agency, as set forth in chapter 395.

- (5) Any insurer damaged as a result of a violation of any provision of this section when there has been a criminal adjudication of guilt shall have a cause of action to recover compensatory damages, plus all reasonable investigation and litigation expenses, including attorneys' fees, at the trial and appellate courts.
- (6) For the purposes of this section, "statement" includes, but is not limited to, any notice, statement, proof of loss, bill of lading, invoice, account, estimate of property damages, bill for services, diagnosis, prescription, hospital or doctor records, X ray, test result, or other evidence of loss, injury, or expense.
- (7) The provisions of this section shall also apply as to any insurer or adjusting firm or its agents or representatives who, with intent, injure, defraud, or deceive any claimant with regard to any claim. The claimant shall have the right to recover the damages provided in this section.
- (8) It is unlawful for any person, in his or her individual capacity or in his or her capacity as a public or private employee, or for any firm, corporation, partnership, or association, to solicit any business in or about city receiving hospitals, city and county receiving hospitals, county hospitals, justice courts, or municipal courts; in any public institution; in any public place; upon any public street or highway; in or about private hospitals, sanitariums, or any private institution; or upon private property of any character whatsoever for the purpose of making motor vehicle tort claims or claims for personal injury protection benefits Any person who violates the required by s. 627.736. provisions of this subsection commits a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084.
- (9) It is unlawful for any attorney to solicit any business relating to the representation of persons injured in a motor vehicle accident for the purpose of

filing a motor vehicle tort claim or a claim for personal injury protection benefits required by s. 627.736. solicitation by advertising of any business by an attorney relating to the representation of a person injured in a specific motor vehicle accident prohibited by this section. Any attorney who violates the provisions of this subsection commits a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084. Whenever any circuit or special grievance committee acting under the jurisdiction of the Supreme Court finds probable cause to believe that an attorney is guilty of a violation of this section, such committee shall forward to the appropriate state attorney a copy of the finding of probable cause and the report being filed in the matter. This section shall not be interpreted to prohibit advertising by attorneys which does not entail a solicitation as described in this subsection and which is permitted by the rules regulating The Florida Bar as promulgated by the Florida Supreme Court.

(10) As used in this section, the term "insurer" means any insurer, self-insurer, self-insurance fund, or other similar entity or person regulated under chapter 440 or by the Department of Insurance under the Florida Insurance Code.

§ 817.234, Fla. Stat. (1997), False and fraudulent insurance claims.

Only a few decisions interpret this statute. See State v. Marks, P.A. 698 So.2d 533, 540 (Fla. 1997); Hershkowitz v. State, 24 Fla. Law Weekly D 2706d (Fla. 3rd DCA Dec. 8, 1999); Bradford v. State, 740 So.2d 569 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999); Barr v. State, 731 So.2d 126 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999); and State v. Falk, 724 So.2d 146 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1998). In each of these cases, the statute has been challenged on various grounds and held to be constitutional.

¹ In <u>Marks</u> one small portion of statute was declared vague but the statute as a whole was held constitutional.

A. PLAIN MEANING

As a general proposition, the legislature has the prerogative to determine what is a crime and to define or redefine the elements of the crime. See Perkins v. State, 682 So. 2d 1083 (Fla. 1996); State v. Hamilton, 660 So. 2d 1038 (Fla. 1995); Chapman v. Lake, 112 Fla. 746, 151 So. 399 (1933). Statutes are to be construed to effectuate legislative intent. In order to ensure legislative intent will be followed, the rule is that when a court entertains a challenge to a statute, the polestar for the court's construction of the statute is the plain meaning of the statutory language. If a statute is clear on its face the courts must apply the plain meaning without resorting to other rules of construction. State v. Egan, 287 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973)

"[T]he plain meaning of statutory language is the first consideration of statutory construction." Capers v. State, 678 So. 2d 330, 332 (Fla. 1996). There is no room for alternative construction if the meaning of a statute is plain on its face. State v. Harvey, 693 So. 2d 1009, 1010 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997). "When the language of a statute is clear and unambiguous, . . . the language should be given effect without resort to extrinsic guides to construction." State v. Marks, 698 So. 2d at 540.

A clear and unambiguous statute precludes an examination of legislative history or intent. <u>Streeter v. Sullivan</u>, 509 So. 2d 268, 271 (Fla. 1987). "When the language of a statute is clear and

unambiguous and conveys a clear and definite meaning, there is no occasion for resorting to the rules of statutory interpretation to alter the plain meaning." Mancini v. Personalized Air Conditioning & Heating, Inc, 702 So. 2d 1376, 1378 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997) quoting Ross v. Gore, 48 So. 2d 412, 415 (Fla. 1950); State v. Cohen, 696 So. 2d 435, 438 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997). "Where the language of the statute is plain and unambiguous, there is no need for judicial interpretation." T.R. v. State, 677 So. 2d 270, 271 (Fla. 1996). See Pardo v. State, 596 So. 2d 665 (Fla. 1992)(fundamental principle of statutory construction: where language of statute is plain and unambiguous, no occasion for judicial interpretation). Because the Act's language is unambiguous, an examination of the legislative history is not warranted.

The plain meaning of §817.234(8) Fla. Stat. (1997) is clear on its face. It provides that:

(8) It is unlawful for any person, in his or her individual capacity or in his or her capacity as a public or private employee, or for any firm, corporation, partnership, or association, to solicit any business for the purpose of making motor vehicle tort claims or claims for personal injury protection benefits required by s. 627.736.

The statute criminalizes solicitation with the intent to file certain types of claims - namely motor vehicle tort claims or claims for personal injury protection (PIP) benefits. This language requires no clarification or interpretation. The meaning of the statute could not be made any plainer. This statutory section does

not require that an intent to defraud be alleged or proven. To the contrary, the section is plain and simple - all solicitation with the intent to file PIP claims is a criminal act. Any intent to defraud is irrelevant to the crime.

The law requires a court to give the language of the statute its plain meaning. A court is not allowed to judicially modify a statute by adding words not included by the legislature. Such judicial legislating violates Florida's Constitutionally required separation of powers. See <u>B.H. v. State</u>, 645 So.2d 987, 991 (Fla. 1994); Smith v. State, 537 So.2d 982 (Fla. 1989).

The Florida Supreme Court recently reiterated this principle when it addressed and rejected attempts to rewrite other portions of this statute. In the case of State v. Marks, P.A. 698 So.2d 533, 540 (Fla. 1997), this Court addressed this statute and found that the respondents were attempting to limit the express terms of an unambiguous statute. It rejected this attempt as beyond the Court's power. Id. at 540. Likewise, in State v. Copher, 396 So.2d 635 (Fla.2nd DCA 1981), the court rejected an attempt to add a fraud element to a statutory section which did not contain fraud language. In the case at hand, the appellate court erred by making the intent to defraud an element of this section of the statute.

B. STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION

Although this Court needs to look no further than the plain meaning of the statute, if this Court determines that the language

is not clear and must construe it, a reasonable construction of the statute clearly indicates that the intent to defraud is not an element of this section of the statute.

A recent decision from this Court, State v. Hubbard, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S575b (Fla. December 16, 1999), lends guidance as to how to construe a statute. In that case, this Court construed the DUI manslaughter statute after appellate courts were holding that the crime contained an element of negligence. This Court examined the statute and held that the legislature did not intend to make negligence an element of the crime of DUI manslaughter.

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