IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 96,910

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

VS.

CHARLES BRADFORD,

Respondent.

On Discretionary Review From the Fourth District Court of Appeal

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

MICHAEL E. DUTKO
Florida Bar No. 434957
BOGENSCHUTZ & DUTKO, P.A.
Colonial Bank Building
600 South Andrews Avenue
Suite 500
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301
Talanhaman 054 764 2500

Telephone: 954-764-2500 Facsimile: 954-764-5040

Counsel for Respondent

CASE NO. 96,910 STATE OF FLORIDA v. CHARLES BRADFORD

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Despite its noble efforts, the Appellate Court erred in its attempt to salvage § 817.234(8), Florida Statutes, from constitutional infirmity by simply engrafting fraud as a necessary element of this statute. Therefore, § 817.234(8), Florida Statutes, is unconstitutional as drafted and as applied to Respondent, Bradford.

However, were this Honorable Court to uphold the decision of the Appellate Court and find § 817.234(8), Florida Statutes, to be constitutional as modified and narrowed by the inclusion of the fraud element, Respondent, Bradford's, conviction from the Trial Court must still be reversed since there existed no evidence of fraud on Respondent, Bradford's, part and the State's theory of prosecution, which was endorsed and adopted by the Trial Court, was that fraud was not an element of the offense. (Tr. 26, 30).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

AS DRAFTED, § 817.234(8), FLORIDA STATUTES, IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS IT IMPERMISSIBLY RESTRICTS AND CRIMINALIZES LEGITIMATE COMMERCIAL SPEECH.

As drafted, the plain language of the statute at issue criminalizes <u>all</u> solicitation of business where the solicitor knows that payment for the services rendered <u>may</u> come as a result of a motor vehicle tort claim or personal injury protection benefits as required by § 627.736, Florida Statutes.

It is unlawful for any person, in his or her individual capacity or in his or her capacity as a public or private employee, or for any firm, corporation, partnership, or association, to solicit any business in or about city receiving hospitals, city and county receiving hospitals county hospitals, justice courts, or municipal courts; in any public institution; in any public place; upon any public street or highway; in or about private hospitals, sanitariums, or any private institution; or upon private property of any character whatsoever for the purpose of making motor vehicle tort claims or claims for personal injury protection benefits required by s. 627.736. Any person who violates the provisions of this subsection commits a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084.

Section 817.234(8), Florida Statutes.

The statute seemingly applies regardless of legitimate and bona fide circumstance and despite the solicitor's lawful intent to provide only appropriate services in exchange for reasonable compensation. In fact, the statute would appear to criminalize even a "free consultation" where no future services or treatments are provided, or, where the solicitor

knows that if future services or treatments are indicated or are to be provided, payment may come in the form of recovery from a motor vehicle tort claim or personal injury protection benefits.

CONSTITUTIONAL TEST

It appears that the appropriate test for reviewing restrictions on commercial speech as challenged in the case at bar is the four-prong intermediate test enunciated in Central Hudson Gas & Electric Corporation v. Public Service Commission of New York, 447 U.S. 557, 100 S. Ct. 2343, 65 L.Ed. 2d 341 (1980). Although commercial speech is afforded less protection than other constitutionally protected forms of speech, nevertheless the First Amendment, applied to the States through the Fourteenth Amendment, protects commercial speech from unwarranted governmental regulation. Virginia Pharmacy Board, 425 U.S. at 761,762; Central Hudson, at 561. For commercial speech to come within the First Amendment it, at least, must concern lawful activity and not be misleading. Commercial expression not only serves the economic interest of the speaker, but also assists consumers and furthers societal interest in the fullest possible dissemination of information. Central Hudson, at 561,562. Next, it must be determined whether the asserted governmental interest to be served by the restriction on commercial speech is substantial. Central Hudson, at 564. If both inquiries yield positive answers, it must then be decided whether the regulation directly advances the governmental interest asserted and whether it is not more extensive than is necessary to serve that interest. Id. at 566.

Respondent's alleged conduct meets the first prong of the *Central Hudson* test because any solicitation in which he was alleged to have engaged, directly or otherwise, was lawful and

not misleading. In fact, only when passed through the prism of § 817.234(8), Florida Statutes does Respondent's activity take on a hue of criminality. If at all, Respondent's conduct was unlawful only because it violated § 817.234(8), Florida Statutes, and not for any other reason. *Bradford*, at 571; *Barr*, at 129.

The second prong of the *Central Hudson* test requires a determination whether the asserted governmental interest to be served by the restriction on the commercial speech is substantial. Unquestionably, the state has a substantial interest in protecting the public and preventing fraud. This goes without saying. However, rather than serving to save the statute as drafted, this prong of the *Central Hudson* test underscores the constitutional infirmity of Subsection (8). Petitioner (State) wishes to exclude fraud as an element of the offense but repeatedly cites the state's obligation to combat fraud as the primary reason for the statute's existence. This proposition is simply absurd and illogical.³

The third prong of *Central Hudson* examines whether the regulation directly advances the governmental interest asserted. In *Barr*, the Court analyzed why Subsection (8) advances the Sate's interest in preventing insurance fraud:

As the [Grand Jury] report suggests, there was a serious problem in the industry of "runners" soliciting automobile accident victims with little or no injuries to undergo unnecessary medical treatment so that they could exhaust the victims' PIP benefits before the victim sued in tort for damages. From an objective standpoint, we believe the statute's prohibition against this type of

³For a scholarly and insightful discussion of inclusion of "intent to defraud" as a required element of § 817.234(8), the reader is urged to consult the Joint Brief Amicus Curiae filed in this matter by Henry M. Coxe, III, D. Gray Thomas, and Robert Stuart Willis. The <u>Amicus</u> Brief analyzes the Dade Grand Jury Report (Br. 19,20), as well as the requirement of reading Subsection (8) in <u>pari materia</u> with Subsection (1)(a) as amended.

solicitation provides a direct link to the state's interest in preventing harm to such victims and the insurance industry.

Barr, at 129.

It is obvious that the theoretical State interest being advanced is the prevention of insurance fraud. That is noble and obvious. It is also misleading and disingenuous. The exclusion or omission of any reference to "fraud" in § 817.234(8), Florida Statutes, renders it vague, overbroad, and subject to arbitrary and capricious application. One may well argue that the statute in question, as drafted, prevents or deters fraud, however it also subjects legitimate and otherwise lawful conduct to criminal prosecution thereby deterring legitimate health claims. Therefore, under the guise of limiting or preventing fraudulent insurance claims, Subsection (8) simply discourages insurance claims, legitimate and fraudulent. This would seem to run contrary to yet another state interest which is to encourage appropriate health care. Nowhere could there be a better example of this unconstitutional and inequitable application than in the case at bar. The prosecutor in the Trial Court acknowledged that there was no evidence of fraud sub judice, yet the prosecution proceeded forward because the Trial Court agreed in the analysis that proof of fraud was not necessary. (Tr. 25,26-30).

Although the foregoing concept advanced by the State may well serve to deter fraud, thereby seemingly advancing a governmental interest, it clearly has an adverse impact on legitimate commercial speech. Therefore, the restriction contained in Subsection (8) is more extensive than is necessary to serve that governmental interest. Thus, as to the fourth prong of the *Central Hudson* test, once again the statute fails constitutional scrutiny, even under the lower standard of intermediate review for commercial speech.

Contrary to the position advanced by Petitioner, Subsection (8), as drafted, does create a chilling effect regarding the solicitation of anyone potentially in need of services, especially chiropractic services. It's axiomatic that the purpose of advertising or soliciting new patients or clients is to expand business. The purpose of expanding business is to generate more revenue. Advertising or soliciting business is not intrinsically illegal. Since Florida law requires PIP insurance coverage of all motorists, it's reasonable to expect that the majority of potential patients or clients over the age of sixteen carry PIP insurance. Once the professional (Chiropractor) determines that the patient or client has PIP coverage, § 817.234(8), Florida Statutes, as drafted, would seem to preclude submission of an insurance claim regardless of the legitimacy of the services provided. Either the patient pays cash or the provider declines to submit the necessary (HCIF) Form for payment. To submit a claim after having solicited the patient/client violates the statute. If the solicitation is the crime, the only certain way to avoid prosecution under the statute, as drafted, is to refrain from soliciting. In the end, business suffers and the dissemination of information to the consumer is repressed.

AS DRAFTED, SUBSECTION (8) IS VOID FOR VAGUENESS

As drafted, the statutory subsection at issue is unconstitutionally vague. The vagueness doctrine has a broad application as it was developed to ensure compliance with due process. For example, nowhere does Chapter 817 define "solicit" so as to put the average person on notice as to what conduct is prohibited. If one were to suppose that a treatable malady was discovered during a free chiropractic demonstration, does the offer of follow-up office treatments constitute solicitation? Does it matter if the follow-up treatment is an "offer" or is an "invitation?" Does a billboard advertising chiropractic services at a busy highway intersection constitute a solicitation of potential accident victims? Do these matters change when there is no initial mention, discussion or even thought of insurance coverage? Does it matter if the prospective patient submits to a free demonstration and is thereafter discovered to have sustained an injury as the result of an automobile accident? Vague laws may trap the innocent by not providing fair warning. Grayned v. City of Rockford, 408 U.S. 108, 92 S.Ct. 2294, 33 L.Ed. 2d 222 (1972).

In 1995, the Fourth District Court of Appeals held § 817.234(1), Florida Statutes, to be unconstitutionally vague as applied to attorneys and their submission of "incomplete claims." *State v. Mark Marks, P.A.*, 684 So.2d 1184 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995). That decision was later approved by this Honorable Court in *State v. Mark Marks, P.A.*, 698 So. 2d 533 (Fla. 1997). Subsection (1) did not make definite which acts were proscribed. A similar rationale applies to the

analysis of Subsection (8) and the failure to define the term "solicit." For instance, it is not clear from a reading of the statute if the sole purpose of the solicitation must be for the patient to make a motor vehicle or PIP claim to constitute illegal conduct, or, if solicitation is proscribed even if the main purpose is to afford legitimate treatment to injured patients, while incidently intending that the patients avail themselves, in a lawful manner, of legal remedies under applicable insurance policies and Florida law.

Contrary to the argument advanced by Petitioner, the language of Subsection (8), as drafted is not clear and unambiguous. As long as a Chiropractor complies with the statutory and administrative rules regulating his/her profession, some solicitation and advertising for chiropractic services is legal, legitimate and common. What's unclear is how one distinguishes advertisements from solicitations. Does it matter under Subsection (8)? Similarly, submission of insurance claim forms after providing legitimate chiropractic services is legal and legitimate. To create a singular criminal offense, as Subsection (8) does, by joining individual component acts that are neither illegal nor immoral generates vagueness and uncertainty. As drafted, Subsection (8) contains no specific, readily identifiable scienter requirement nor does it prohibit or forbid a clear and definite act. "A scienter requirement may save a statute from the [challenge or] objection that it punishes without warning an offense of which the accused was aware, Screws v. United States, 325

U.S. 91, 102, 65 S.Ct. 1031, 1036, 89 L. Ed. 1495 (1945) it will save the statute from this objection; however, only where the statute forbids a clear and definite act". *Id.* at 105., *Marks*, at 538. *Sub judice*, Subsection (8), as written, suffers from the same constitutional affliction as Subsection (1) in *Marks*, *Id*.

POINT II.

IN BRADFORD, THE APPELLATE COURT'S INTERPRETATION OF SUBSECTION (8) ENGRAFTING FRAUD AS AN ELEMENT IS LOGICALLY CORRECT.

REVIEW OF BRADFORD OPINION

In its Opinion in *Bradford v. State*, 740 So.2d 569, (Fla. 4th DCA 1999), the Appellate Court has engrafted an element of fraud into Subsection (8) which was not specifically included by the legislature. "A chiropractor may solicit any prospective patient even if that chiropractor happens to get paid for his services by the patient's PIP insurance, as long as he does not solicit with the intent to defraud the insurer". *Bradford*, at 571. The analysis of the appellate court seemingly reflects the legitimacy of the issue first raised by Respondent in the trial court and on appeal, which was/is that the statute, as drafted, was/is unconstitutionally vague. The *Bradford* Opinion is a logical attempt to salvage Subsection (8) from the constitutional dustbin. *Doe v. Mortham*, 708 So. 2d. 929 (Fla. 1998). As pointed out by Respondent, Subsection (8) is contained within twenty pages of Chapter 817 which is generally entitled "Fraudulent Practices". In fact, the specific statutory heading for § 817.234, Florida Statutes, is entitled "False and Fraudulent Insurance Claims". All subsections preceding

⁴ Chapter 460, Florida Statutes, and Rule 64B2, Florida Administrative Code.

Subsection (8) require an intent to either "injure, defraud, or deceive," or require proof of intent to "fraudulently violate" some other subsection. Suddenly Subsection (8) appears, lacking completely any reference to fraudulent practices, false and fraudulent insurance claims, or the intent to either injure, defraud, deceive or fraudulently violate. There is absolutely no distinction within the subsection, as written, between a legitimate claim made with the lawful intention of simply making a tort victim whole or with the criminal intent of defrauding an insurer or an alleged tort feasor. It stands to reason then that if Subsection (8) is going to survive even minimal constitutional scrutiny, fraud must be included as a necessary element. Relying on the authority of *Barr v. State*, 731 So. 2d. 126 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) the appellate court upheld the constitutionality of Subsection (8) but wrote to "clarify why Subsection (8) does not punish purely innocent activity". *Bradford*, at 570. Thus, the only logically sound interpretation of Subsection (8) is the one articulated by the appellate court in *Bradford*. The question then, to be resolved by this Honorable Court, is whether the inclusion of the fraud element is sufficient to cure the constitutional infirmity of Subsection (8).

APPLICATION OF THE LAW TO THE FACTS IN BRADFORD

Without splitting legal hairs, Respondent urges this Honorable Court to examine the minimal contact Respondent had with the Prebeck group in conjunction with the undisputed fact that Respondent only submitted HCIF claim forms for two of five patients referred to his office by the Prebeck group. Both patients, Morse and Adams, received bona fide chiropractic treatment and legitimate insurance claims were filed. Yet each (Morse and Adams) was included in a separate count of the criminal Information *sub judice*. This, despite

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